IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CARL ANDREW FISHER



APPELLANT

VS.

È

Ē.

AUG 2 4 2008

NO. 2008-CA-00359-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT CARL ANDREW FISHER

Thomas Powell, MSB P.O. Box 621 Ridgeland, MS 39158 601-922-2824 Office 601-922-2818 Fax TOP959@CS.COM

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

DID THE TRIAL ERR IN SUSTAINING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT?

STATEMENT OF CASE

The Appellant, Carl Andrew Fisher, filed suit on May 6, 2004 asserting a claim against the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors. Mr. Fisher is a resident of Lauderdale County residing in Collinsville, Mississippi, and owns approximately 198, Of which 120 acres of timberland that was flooded on or about April 3, 2003 as a result of heavy rains and flooding. Mr. Fisher alleges in his Complaint the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors is a governmental agency as defined by 11-46-11 MCA. (CR p2) The Appellant asserts the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors is not immune from liability Pursuant to MCA 11-46-9 which requires a minimum standard of ordinary care be used by the governmental actor to raise the statutory shield. Appellant asserts the Board did not use ordinary due care in the maintenance of drainage culverts it had installed on Beaver Pond Road by failing to maintain and keep the culverts free of established beaver dams and associated debris, on the County's right of way, neglect which was the proximate cause of the land's continually retain water from flooding in which resulted in soil fertility depletion and subsequent timber loss. The Appellant asserts that he has notified the District Two Supervisor, of the culvert drainage problem due to established beaver dams and associated debris. (CR P 60). Appellant's Expert would testify that due to improperly installed and inadequately sized culverts, and beaver dams located in the culverts, caused Beaver Pond Road and the surrounding areas to 1 become a Wetland by not allowing flood waters to recede. Further, that such blockage

£ -

over the years has caused the water to flow in a different direction across the Appellant's property, resulting in preventable damages to land and timber, nor has there been any official designation in Lauderdale County, Mississippi of a 100 year rain or a 500 year flood by any governmental agency. **CR pgs 87-88**

The Appellees, the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors, asserts through its Motion for Summary Judgment that it is immune from liability "because no one is liable for any injury proximately caused by an Act of God …" citing **City of Jackson v. Brummett, 80 So.2d 827 (Miss. 1955).** The Appellees, the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors, further assert that it is immune from liability pursuant to the **MCTA, 11-46-9(1)(q),** MCA which states " a governmental entity … acting within the course and scope of its employment … shall not be liable for any claim:" Arising out of any injury caused solely by the effect of weather conditions on the use of streets and highways. Therefore the damage to Mr. Fisher's property resulted from flooding based on the theory an "Act of God" was the proximate cause to the damage to Appellant's property. The Appellees term the rain as a "100 year rain" and a "500 year flood" although the U.S. Geological Survey has made no such determination. **CR pgs 51-54, CR pgs 93-95**

Finally, Appellees argue immunity from liability because the construction of culverts is governed by **65-21-1**, **MCA**, which places minimum requirements on the width of culverts which is a ministerial duty on the Board of Supervisors to ensure that the culvert is constructed within the guidelines of the statute, and any decisions made

2.

outside of those minimum requirements are discretionary functions of government, thus immunity applies.

Appellants also contend that the Trial Court gave the "appearance of impropriety" by allowing counsel for the County to enter his chambers immediately after the hearing, causing Appellant to question the fairness of the legal process.

Rule 56(c), MRCP, provides for summary judgment where "there is no issue of material fact... and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Appellant contends that is a genuine issue of material as to whether the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors, failed to exercise ordinary due care in the construction, installation, and maintenance of the culverts.

ARGUMENT

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN SUSTAINING THE DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT?

The Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 11-46-9(1)(q) states a "governmental entity... acting within the course and scope of their employment... shall not be liable for any claim: "Arising out of any injury caused solely by the effect of weather conditions on the use of streets and highways." The case of City of Jackson v. Brummett, 80 So.2d 827 (Miss. 1955) states "No one is liable for an injury proximately caused by an act of God, which is an injury due directly and exclusively to natural causes without human intervention, and which could have been prevented by the exercise of reasonable care and foresight. However, in the case of Hattiesburg v. Hillman, 76 So.2d 368, 370 (Miss. 1954) states "But an act which may be prevented by the exercise of ordinary care is not an act [*** 11] of God which would immunize a tort-feasor from liability. In the case of

Brummett, the court found the City of Jackson liable for using rotten ropes to tie down an airplane which flipped over when the ropes snapped in high winds. In the case at bar, the flooding that ruined the 120 acres of Mr. Fisher's property was the result of gross negligence of the Lauderdale County in the placement, installation, and maintenance of the culverts on Beaver Pond Road. Mr. Randy Warren, the designated expert in the area of forestry, biology and environmental science, having expertise pertaining to timber loss and damage to personal property due to inundation - flooding states "Mr. Fisher has sustained long-term, irreversible damage to his property, not from an Act of God, but from the direct result of Lauderdale County's improperly installing culverts that are inadequately sized. Mr. Warren further asserts that Lauderdale County also totally avoided and abandoned its responsibility for periodically removing the beaver dams along the county right of way easement across Beaver Pond Road and across Mr. Fisher's property. Mr. Warren states the beaver dams were built against the culverts on the west side of Beaver Pond Road, which is a public road. Mr. Fisher notified the county of the beaver problem on several occasions but no action was ever taken by the County. See Affidavit and C Vitae of Randy Warren. CR p 30-32; Deposition of C. Fisher, CR p 60. Mr. Warren states due to the County failing to remove the dams on the right of

4.

way in the culverts, after repeated calls and visits from Mr. Fisher, caused the normally

έ.

eastward flowing gravitational water to flow northward across Mr. Fisher's property, creating a wetland over a period of years after the none receding waters were retained. Mr. Warren further states that even though for many years Lauderdale County was included in the USDA's APHIS (Animal, Plant, Hail, Inspection Services) Wildlife Service's Beaver Control Program, not a single call for assistance for removing beaver dams along the right-of-way of Beaver Pond Road was made by any personnel from the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors. This agency, which maintains a daily log of requests from any county personnel, has no record of any such or said request from any Lauderdale County employee. Lauderdale County admitted in its Motion for Summary Judgment that Mr. Fisher's property would flood in the winter and becomes dry in the summer. Now it is a wetland.

The Appellees' argue that they are immune from liability because the maintenance of culverts is a "discretionary function" of an governmental entity. Generally, supervisors have been found to be immune from liability for injuries resulting form the negligent maintenance of public roads. Mohundro v. Alcorn County, 675 So.2d 848 (Miss. 1996); Coplin v. Francil,631 So.2d 752,753 (Miss. 1994); Webb v. County of Lincoln, 535 So.2d 1356, 1358-1360 (Miss. 1988). However, this qualified immunity only affords protection against suits arising out of the performance of discretionary duties. Mohundro v. Alcorn County, 675 So.2d 848 (Miss. 1996); Davis v. Little, 362 So.2d 642, 644 (Miss. 1978). A supervisor or other public official has no immunity to a civil action for damages if his breach of a legal duty cause[d] injury and (1) that duty is ministerial in

5.

nature, or (2) that duty involves the use of discretion and the governmental actor greatly or substantially exceeds his authority and in the course thereof causes harm, or (3) the governmental actor commits an intentional tort. In **Mohunro** citing **Grantham v.**

Mississippi Dept. of Corrections, 522 So.2d 219, 225 (Miss. 1988). A duty is ministerial in nature when "the duty is one which has been positively imposed by law and its performance required at a time and in a manner or upon conditions which are specifically designated, the duty to perform under the conditions specified not being dependent upon the officer's judgment or discretion..." Coplin, 631 So.2d at 754, citing Poyner v. Gilmore, 171 Miss. 859, 865.

Miss. Code Ann. **65-21-1** sets out the following requirements for the placement of culverts: "All culverts hereafter built, rebuilt, or placed on any public road in this state shall be not less than the full width of the crown of the roadway, and shall have guide or warning posts on either side."

Miss. Code Ann. **19-13-41**, gives Boards of Supervisors the full jurisdiction over the roads, bridges and ferries in their respective counties.

Miss. Code Ann. 19-13-51, gives Boards of Supervisors the discretion to pay certain claims for injures to property sustained as the result of defective bridges, causeways and culverts. However, in case of the **Benefit of Brazeale v. Lewis, 498 So.2d 321, 323(Miss. 1986)**, the court noted the statute does in fact, reinforce the discretionary -ministerial distinction by allowing the board as a whole the authority to make discretionary decisions with regard to the general condition and state of maintenance of county roads and bridges, thus leaving intact the board's qualified

6.

£ 7

immunity for such decisions. id. at 323. In finding that road and maintenance and repair are discretional rather than ministerial functions, the court relied on Lewis.

The minimum requirements of the construction of culverts are specified in Miss. Code Ann. 65-21-1 leaving no room for discretion in meeting the minimum standards set out there.

Miss. Code Ann. 11-46-9 requires a minimum standard of ordinary care be exercised by the government actor in order to raise the statutory shield but when a government actor fails to use ordinary care in executing or performing or failing to execute or perform an act mandated by statute, there is no shield of immunity. Still and Jones, 744 So.2d 256, (Miss. 1999). The court citing Bailey Drainage Dist. v. Stark, 526 So.2d 678, 681, n.2 (Fal.1988), states that "once the road is built and the responsible entity becomes aware of a dangerous condition in connection with the road, the duty becomes one of maintenance. Id. Therefore, MDOT and Tunica must use due care in the exercise of discretion.

In the case at bar, once District Two Supervisor Jimmy Smith and the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors became aware of the culverts' conditions on Beaver Pond Road and failed to use ordinary due care in the maintenance of the culverts. In Mohundro, the court stated "The law is not clear as to whether an individual supervisor has a ministerial duty or function to see to the repair and maintenance of the roads and bridges within his district or whether that duty is only one of the Board of supervisors as a whole. In Coplin, we found that the supervisor in that case did have such a duty and we reversed summary judgment. The decision to replace the existing bridge on Mathis road

7.

È.

with a culvert was a discretionary function, but there may by a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether Dixon substantially exceeded his authority in making that decision. He made the decision on his own without consulting the rest of the board or professional engineer to see if a culvert would be sufficient. See Coplin, 631 So.2d 755. In Mohundro, the court found though the board of supervisors had sovereign immunity, but there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether a supervisor exceeded his authority or was so grossly negligent that his action may be described as constrictively intentional. If so, there is no immunity. **MRCP 56**

Appellant contends that Supervisor Jimmy Smith was so grossly negligent by failing to use ordinary due care in the placement, installation and maintenance of said culverts on Beaver Pond Road to make his actions intentional, thus allowing Mr. Fisher to pierce the veil of immunity. **Still and Jones v. MDOT and Tunica County, 744 So.2d 256, (Miss. 1999).**

Rule 56 of the MRCP, provides for "summary judgment is appropriate 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Brown v. Credit Center, Inc., 444 So.2d 358, 362 (Miss. 1983); MRCP 56; Reid v. American Premier Ins. Co., 814 So.2d 141 (Miss. 2002). In this case, there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Lauderdale County Supervisor Jimmy Smith exceeded his authority in this case or was so grossly negligent that his actions may be described as constructively intentional. Further, there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the Lauderdale

8.

÷.

ž 7

County Board of Supervisors failed to exercise ordinary due care in the placement, installation and maintenance of the culverts. Still and Jones v. MDOT and Tunica County, 744 So.2d 256 (Miss. 1999).

CONCLUSION

The Trial Court erred in granting Appellee Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors Motion for Summary Judgment because there is a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether Jimmy Smith exceeded his authority or was grossly negligent as to make his acts intentional, and whether the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors used ordinary care in the placement, installation and maintenance of the culverts on Beaver Pond Road.

÷

ē 7