# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### CARL ANDREW FISHER

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-00359-COA

# LAUDERDALE COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

APPELLEE

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

# **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

J. Richard Barry (MSB Robert T. Bailey (MSB BOURDEAUX & JONES Post Office Box 2009 Meridian, MS 39302-2009 Telephone: (601) 693-2393

Attorneys for the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENT
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE -10-

# TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

# Cases:

ļ

1

1 .

1

÷

r

•

1

•

F

ι.

į.

ŧ

•

÷

Barr v. Hancock County, 950 So.2d 254, 258 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)
Davis v. Hoss, 869 So.2d 397 (¶10) (Miss. 2004)4-
McFarland v. Entergy Mississippi, Inc., 919 So.2d 894, 903 (Miss. 2006)
McFarland v. Leake, 864 So.2d 959 (¶7) (Miss. 2003)4-
Mohundro v. Alcorn County, 675 So.2d 848, 853 (Miss. 1996)8-
Moore ex rel. Moore v. Mem'l Hosp. of Gulfport, 825 So.2d 658, 663 (¶15) (Miss.2002)4-
Owens Corning v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., 868 So.2d 331 (¶7)(Miss. 2004)4-
Palmer v. Anderson Infirmary Benev. Ass'n, 656 So.2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1995)5-
Reid v. American Premier Ins. Co., 814 So.2d 141 (¶11) (Miss. 2002)4-
Schepens v. City of Long Beach, 924 So.2d 620 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)
Soil Survey of Lauderdale County Mississippi, by the United States Department of Agriculture, issued July 1983
Stephens v. Carlisle Corp. 853 So.2d 871 (¶11) (Miss. 2003)5-
Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c)
§ 11-46-9(1)(d), MCA
§ 11-46-9(1)(q), MCA
§ 11-46-11, MCA
§ 65-21-1, MCA

,

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

ţ

1

ŧ

ί,

The only issue before this Court on appeal is as follows: Did the Trial Court err in sustaining the Defendant's (Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors) Motion for Summary Judgment?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature of the Case

This is a Mississippi Torts Claim case which was filed by Carl A. Fisher ("Fisher") on May 6, 2004, against the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors ("the Board"). Mr. Fisher alleges, among other things, that his land flooded due to the fact that the Board did not use ordinary care in the maintenance of the drainage culverts it had installed on Beaver Pond Road. *Course of the Proceedings* 

Mr. Fisher filed his complaint on May 6, 2004. The Board filed its Answer and Defenses on May 18, 2004. On September 24, 2007, the Board filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. On October 15, 2007, Fisher filed his response to the Board's Motion for Summary Judgement and on October 29, 2007, the Board filed its Rebuttal.

The Summary Judgment hearing was held on December 19, 2007. On December 28, 2007, a motion for a rehearing was filed by Fisher, which was responded to by the Board on January 3, 2008. On January 25, 2008, the Honorable Lester Williamson issued a Memorandum Opinion and Judgment in which he held that "the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors is entitled to immunity pursuant to § 11-46-9(1)(d), MCA." **R. at 129.** 

#### Statement of the Facts

In April of 2003, the area surrounding Beaver Pond Road received about 10 inches of rain on two separate occasions that washed out ditches, culverts, and roads. **R. at 56.** Beaver Pond Road is a Lauderdale County road maintained by Appellee, Lauderdale County.

In 1984, Carl Fisher, purchased real property consisting of 82 acres of timberland in the area adjacent to Beaver Pond Road. **R. at 70.** This 82 acre tract of land is near Ponta Creek. **R.** 

at 71. Mr. Fisher believes that the two big rains that fell in April of 2003 could be considered a 500 year flood. **R. at 72-73.** Mr. Fisher also stated that his tract of land will get wet in the wintertime but will dry out in the summer. **R. at 74.** Mr. Fisher also stated that because of this substantial amount of rainfall the lakes on the Navy Base overflowed sending water rushing down Ponta Creek and causing Ponta Creek to flood out as well. **R. at 73.** Mr. Fisher stated that nothing could have been done to prevent the flood of April 2003. **R. at 76.** After the flood of April 2003, Mr. Fisher did not have any conversations with anyone from Lauderdale County regarding his flooded timberland. **R. at 76.** 

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Standard of Review

The Mississippi Supreme Court has clearly held that "summary judgment is appropriate 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Reid v. American Premier Ins. Co.*, 814 So.2d 141 (¶11) (Miss. 2002)(quoting in part Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c)).

The burden of demonstrating the absence of any material issue rests with the moving party. *Davis v. Hoss*, 869 So.2d 397 (¶10) (Miss. 2004)(citing *Moore ex rel. Moore v. Mem'l Hosp. of Gulfport*, 825 So.2d 658, 663 (¶15) (Miss.2002)). In other words, the courts will give a non-movant the benefit of the doubt as to whether such a material issue actually exists. *Owens Corning v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co.*, 868 So.2d 331 (¶7)(Miss. 2004). However, "If, in this view, there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should be entered in that party's favor." *Id.* It is not enough that a party simply rely on its allegations or denials. Rather, a plaintiff must put forward "specific facts" that would indicate there is a material issue to be tried. *Id.* Indeed, regarding allegations of negligence, the state supreme court has held that:

In a negligence action, the plaintiff bears the burden of producing evidence sufficient to establish the existence of the conventional tort elements of duty, breach of duty, proximate causation, and injury. Therefore, in a summary judgment proceeding, the plaintiff must rebut the defendant's claim (i.e., that no genuine issue of material fact exists) by producing supportive evidence of significant and probative value; this evidence must show that the defendant breached the established standard of care and that such breach was the proximate cause of her injury.

McFarland v. Leake, 864 So.2d 959 (¶7) (Miss. 2003) citing Palmer v. Anderson

Infirmary Benev. Ass'n, 656 So.2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1995); see also Stephens v. Carlisle Corp. 853 So.2d 871 (¶11) (Miss. 2003).

Thus, where the defendant has put forward evidence adequate to shift the burden of persuasion back to the plaintiff as to the existence of a genuine issue of material fact, the plaintiff is not sufficiently served to simply deny the defendants allegations, but must put forward "evidence of significant and probative value" that there is a material issue to be decided. *Id.* 

Act of God

!

e

The floods of April 2003 can be categorized as an act of God for which the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors had no control. Nothing could have been done to prevent the floods from occurring. Fisher stated that he believes his land received about 10-15 inches of rain on April 22, 2003 and that another 10 inches fell soon after. **R. at 56.** No amount of preparation by the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors could have prevented the damage done to the land that received some 25 inches of rain in such a short period of time.

An act of God has been defined by the Supreme Court of Mississippi as the following:

"A loss happening in spite of all human effort and sagacity."

"Any accident, due directly and exclusively to natural causes without human intervention, which by no amount of foresight, pains, or care, reasonably to have been expected could have been prevented."

"Applies only to events in nature so extraordinary that the history of climatic variations and other conditions in the particular locality affords no reasonable warning of them."

"An Act of God is not only one which causes damage, but one as to which reasonable precautions and/or the exercise of reasonable care by the defendant, could not have prevented the damage from the natural event." *McFarland v. Entergy Mississippi, Inc.*, 919 So.2d 894, 903 (Miss. 2006).

In *McFarland*, a severe ice storm struck the Mississippi Delta causing trees to fall as well as downing power lines throughout the area. *McFarland* at 897. A driver ran into one of these downed power lines and sued Entergy for negligence. *Id.* The Court ruled in favor of Entergy stating that "all Entergy could hope to accomplish under these circumstances was a quick mobilization of all its available workers, equipment and resources; to call for extra support from surrounding companies in sister states; to seek volunteers to assist; and to use reasonable ordinary due care in restoring power lines, poles, and electricity as soon as possible." *Id.* at 903.

Fisher has sued the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors for negligence on the theory that liability can be found in the alleged failure to properly maintain and keep the drainage culverts free of debris. **R. at 78.** Fisher bought this tract of land in 1984 and stated that this piece of land had never flooded like this before April of 2003. **R. at 72, 75.** In April of 2003 when the area around Beaver Pond Road received the heavy rainfall and subsequent flooding, the water blew out the culverts and drains, and washed out some of the road on Beaver Pond Road. **R. at 75.** Even though Mr. Fisher claimed that he spoke with someone at the county barn prior to the floods of April 2003, he did not have any conversations with anybody with the county to alert them that he may have a problem on his land. **R. at 76.** The County did replace three culverts that were blown out during the floods of April 2003 in the land adjacent to Mr. Fisher's land. **R. at 76.** 

The flood of April 2003 in the Beaver Pond Road area was clearly an Act of God. No amount of preparation by the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors could have prevented the floods.

i.

É

Ì,

-6-

### *MTCA Section* 11-46-9(*q*)

Furthermore, immunity is appropriate under Section (q) of the MTCA which states that there shall be no liability, "Arising out of an injury caused solely by the effect of weather conditions on the use of streets and highways. . . ." Miss. Code Ann. 11-46-9(q) Code of 1972 as Amended. Clearly, the washout at issue was the result of weather conditions on Beaver Pond Road. This fact is not in dispute. There is no allegation that the Lauderdale County contributed to or caused the washout conditions.

In Schepens v. City of Long Beach, 924 So. 2d 620 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), the Plaintiffs claimed that a dirt road had not been properly maintained. The Plaintiff testified that "naturally a dirt road, when it goes to raining, you're going to start getting potholes it. That is when it needs to be graded." *Id.* at 623. The Court held that the Plaintiff's claim "arose from an injury which resulted solely from the effect rain" had on the road making the City of Long Beach immune from Schepens claim under § 11-46-9(1)(q). *Id.* at 623.

#### *MTCA* Section 11-46-9(d)

ι.

t I

i.

1

Fisher claims that his land was flooded due to "inadequately sized and improperly installed culverts." **R. at 87.** Fisher also states that he has "sustained long-term irreversible damage to his property, in particular his soils, timber, etc." **R. at 87.** Furthermore, Fisher states that he has suffered "mental anguish and anxiety for the last Twenty-five (25) years." **R. at 87.** 

From 1972-1979, the United States Department of Agriculture conducted a soil survey of Lauderdale County. *Soil Survey of Lauderdale County Mississippi*, by the United States Department of Agriculture, issued July 1983. The aerial photograph, which was taken on November 12, 1979, shows that the land at issue had a beaver pond located within its boundaries. **R. at 96.** This aerial photo also shows that in 1979, the beaver pond and the approximately 50 acres surrounding the beaver pond consisted of wetlands and/or grasslands. *Id.* The type of soil was listed as DJ which the Soil Survey book defines as Daleville-Jena association, frequently flooded. *Soil Survey of Lauderdale County Mississippi*, page 17. This type of soil is defined as the following:

1

i.

. . This unit consists of deep, nearly level, poorly drained Daleville soils and well drained Jena soils on flood plains along major streams. These soils are flooded more often than once in 2 years. Depressional areas and sloughs often remain under water for several months, but mostly they are flooded for periods of shorter duration. *Soil Survey of Lauderdale County Mississippi*, page 17-18.

In 1979, the land that Fisher now owns was already considered flooded land and already had considerable flood damage. Fisher is not entitled to damages when his land was damaged prior to him purchasing the property in 1984. Fisher is also not entitled to damages over the past 25 years because the Torts Claim Act states that all actions shall be "commenced within one year after the date of the tortious, wrongful or otherwise actionable conduct on which the liability phase of the action is based, and not after." Miss. Code Ann. 11-46-11(3) Code of 1972.

The construction of a culvert is dictated by § 65-21-1 of the Mississippi Code which places minimum requirements on the width of culverts. While this statute does place a ministerial duty on the Board of Supervisors to ensure that the culvert is constructed within the guidelines of the statute, any decisions made outside of those minimum requirements are discretionary functions of government. *Barr v. Hancock County*, 950 So.2d 254, 258 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Maintenance of roads has long been held to be a discretionary duty. *Mohundro v. Alcorn County*, 675 So.2d 848, 853 (Miss. 1996). Being that there is not any evidence to suggest that the culverts were not designed or constructed within the guidelines as dictated by § 65-21-1, and that the maintenance or repair of roads is a discretionary act, the Board is immune under § 11-46-9(d), and the claim should be dismissed as a matter of law.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors respectfully submits that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors is entitled to judgment as a matter of law as to the entirety of the Appellant's issues. The Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors should be immune from the claims of the Appellant, Carl A. Fisher. Accordingly, the order by the Trial Court granting summary judgment to the Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors should be affirmed.